STATE OF CALIFORNIA • DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

TR0003 (REV 10/98)

1. REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION NUMBER	3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
CA20-3420		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5. REPORT DATE
Modeling E-hailing and Car-pooling Serv	ices in a Coupled Morning–Evening Commute	
Framework		December 2020
		6. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION CODE
7. AUTHOR		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NO.
Jong-Shi Pang, Michael H. Zhang, Maged	M. Dessouky,Wei Gu	
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADD	RESS	10. WORK UNIT NUMBER
University of Southern California		
3500 S. Figueroa Street, Suite #102		
Los Angeles, CA 90089-8001		11. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER
		65A0674 TO 20
		13. TYPE OF REPORT AND PERIOD COVERED
California Department of Transportation		Final Report, Jan 1, 2020 - December 31, 2020
Division of Descende Impostation and Suc	tom Information MS 82	1 , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Division of Research, Innovation and Syst	tem mormation, MS-85	
1/2/ 30th Street, 3rd Floor		14. SPONSORING AGENCY CODE
Sacramento CA942/3-0001		
		Caltrans DRISI
15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES		

16. ABSTRACT

In this research project, we develop a general equilibrium model to capture the complex interactions between solo-driving, rideshare and ehailing that allows travelers to switch between different transportation modes in a coupled morning-evening commute. The model is formulated as a mixed complementarity problem. The existence of an equilibrium solution and the properties of the solution are investigated. The proposed model is then validated with a small network and the renowned Sioux-Falls network. The results show that our model captures the mode switches between morning and evening that is missed by decoupled morning and evening commute models. In particular, our numerical examples show that modeling morning and evening commutes separately tends to overestimate the number of drivers and total vehicle miles traveled (VMT) in the network when accounting for travelers' capabilities for mode switching. With a coupled model, transportation planners can better understand appropriate incentives to increase vehicle occupancy and reduce VMT, thereby achieving some social benefits associated with morning and evening commutes.

17. KEY WORDS	18. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT The readers can freely refer to and distribute this report. If there is any		
	questions, please contact one of the	authors.	
19. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION (of this report)	20. NUMBER OF PAGES	21. COST OF REPORT CHARGED	
No security issues	60	Free for E-copy	

Disclaimer Statement

This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the State of California or the Federal Highway Administration. This publication does not constitute a standard, specification or regulation. This report does not constitute an endorsement by the Department of any product described herein.

For individuals with sensory disabilities, this document is available in Braille, large print, audiocassette, or compact disk. To obtain a copy of this document in one of these alternate formats, please contact: the Division of Research, Innovation, and System Information, MS-83, California Department of Transportation, Division of Research, Innovation, and System Information, P.O. Box 942873, Sacramento, CA 94273-0001.

Modeling e-hailing and car-pooling services in a coupled morningevening commute framework

December 2020

A Research Report from the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center

Jong-Shi Pang, University of Southern California Michael H. Zhang, University of California, Davis Maged M. Dessouky, University of Southern California Wei Gu, University of Southern California







Page intentionally left blank.



Contents

A	About the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center 4			
U	U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) Disclaimer 5			
C	alifor	nia Department of Transportation (CALTRANS) Disclaimer	5	
D	isclos	sure	6	
A	cknov	wledgement	7	
A	bstra	\mathbf{ct}	8	
E	xecut	ive Summary	9	
1	Intr	oduction	11	
2	2 Literature Review 14			
3	Mat	chematical Model	16	
	3.1	Problem description	16	
	3.2	Model notations and assumptions	18	
	3.3	Connections among variables and functions	21	
	3.4	Flow conservation equations	25	
	3.5	Rideshare capacity and addition to minimum fare	25	
	3.6	3 User equilibrium		
	3.7	The overall equilibrium model	28	
4	Mo	del Analysis	30	
	4.1	Existence of an equilibrium	30	
	4.2	Relationship with traditional models	31	
	4.3	The conditions of unique travelers' mode choice	36	
			0	



5	5 Computational Results	
	5.1 Results of the small network	. 41
	5.2 Results of the Sioux-Falls network	. 47
6	Conclusions and Future Research	52
7	References	53



About the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center

The Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center (UTC) is the Region 9 University Transportation Center funded under the US Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. Established in 2016, the Pacific Southwest Region UTC (PSR) is led by the University of Southern California and includes seven partners: Long Beach State University; University of California, Davis; University of California, Irvine; University of California, Los Angeles; University of Hawaii; Northern Arizona University; Pima Community College.

The Pacific Southwest Region UTC conducts an integrated, multidisciplinary program of research, education and technology transfer aimed at improving the mobility of people and goods throughout the region. Our program is organized around four themes: 1) technology to address transportation problems and improve mobility; 2) improving mobility for vulnerable populations; 3) Improving resilience and protecting the environment; and 4) managing mobility in high growth areas.



U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. However, the U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

California Department of Transportation (CALTRANS) Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the United States Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government and the State of California assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof. Nor does the content necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. Government and the State of California. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. This report does not constitute an endorsement by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) of any product described herein.



Disclosure

The Principal Investigator and Co-Investigators, with the assistance of a graduate student, conducted this research titled, Modeling e-hailing and car-pooling services in a coupled morningevening commute framework, at the Daniel J. Epstein Department of Industrial & System Engineering, Viterbi School of Engineering, University of Southern California and at the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California Davis. The research took place from 01/01/2020 to 12/31/2020 and was funded by a grant from Caltrans in the amount of \$200,642. The research was conducted as part of the Pacific Southwest Region University Transportation Center research program.



Acknowledgement

We thank PSR for their support of this project.



Abstract

In this research project, we develop a general equilibrium model to capture the complex interactions between solo-driving, rideshare and e-hailing that allows travelers to switch between different transportation modes in a coupled morning-evening commute. The model is formulated as a mixed complementarity problem. The existence of an equilibrium solution and the properties of the solution are investigated. The proposed model is then validated with a small network and the renowned Sioux-Falls network. The results show that our model captures the mode switches between morning and evening that is missed by decoupled morning and evening commute models. In particular, our numerical examples show that modeling morning and evening commutes separately tends to overestimate the number of drivers and total vehicle miles traveled (VMT) in the network when accounting for travelers' capabilities for mode switching. With a coupled model, transportation planners can better understand appropriate incentives to increase vehicle occupancy and reduce VMT, thereby achieving some social benefits associated with morning and evening commutes.



Executive Summary

The emerging shared mobility services, such as e-hailing services provided by Uber, Lyft, Didi, Grab and Ola or rideshare services enabled by SCOOP, WAZE, Zipcar, and Turo provide more travel mode choices for commuters in both morning and evening commutes. Moreover, these new services compete or cooperate in this space to reduce travel demand and hence traffic congestion. There is clearly a need to understand not only how these services are transforming urban transportation network, but also what the impact is on travelers' behavior.

In this research project, we propose a general equilibrium modeling framework, which is capable of capturing the complex interactions between solo-driving, rideshare, and e-hailing, and allows travelers to switch between different transportation modes in a coupled morning-evening commute. Formulated as a mixed complementarity problem, the main constraints of the general equilibrium model include user equilibrium conditions, flow conservation equations, rideshare capacity and a minimum fare threshold.

Then we prove that an equilibrium exists for the proposed model. Also, we show that when the model reaches an equilibrium, (1) the morning (evening) commute also reaches an equilibrium; (2) if travelers' mode choice is fixed, the morning (evening) commute is equivalent to a traditional traffic equilibrium problem; (3) travelers are rational to mode choice, which means that no traveler will choose a more expensive travel mode combination. Furthermore, we provide the conditions under which travelers' mode choice will be unique.

Finally, the proposed model is validated in two networks: a small network and the Sioux-Falls network. The results show that the proposed coupled morning-evening model is effective in capturing the mode switches between morning and evening, which eventually leads to better system performance (e.g., number of drivers, total VMT) compared with a decoupled morning (evening) commute model. For example, in the Sioux-Falls network, the coupled model produces 24.2% fewer drivers and 8.4% less VMT in the system compared with the decoupled model when the inconvenience cost due to ridesharing is higher during the evening commute than in the morning commute.



This is due to the fact that the coupled model can capture the behavior of travelers' capability to switch to e-hailing in the evening commute when ridesharing in the morning commute. A decoupled model cannot capture this effect and most likely will predict that the traveler will drive to work.



1. Introduction

App-based transportation services, such as e-hailing services provided by Uber, Lyft, Didi, Grab and Ola or casual rideshare enabled by SCOOP, WAZE, Zipcar, and Turo are growing rapidly. For example, Uber has hit its milestone in 2018 to serve over 10 billion trips within more than 700 cities of 80 countries (Uber, 2018). There are over 75 million riders and 3.9 million drivers in total, producing more than 14.1 billion of annual net revenue for the Uber company (Iqbal, 2020). These emerging transportation services are transforming the travel behavior of individuals and urban mobility patterns, and provide significant challenges to transportation planners and policy makers on how to assess the impact of these services on transportation systems, and how to facilitate or regulate these services because conventional planning tools are inadequate to model their more complex interactions between drivers, riders, and the private enterprises that link the drivers and riders together.

Due to heavy traffic, commuters suffer from long travel delays in both the morning and evening commutes in many urban areas. The emerging shared mobility transportation services, e-hailing and ridesharing, provide more travel mode choices for commuters in both morning and evening commutes. Furthermore, these new modes of travel compete or cooperate in this space to reduce travel demand and hence traffic congestion. For example, a person can combine a rideshare service in the morning, but use an e-hailing service for the evening return trip to reduce the pairing cost, and provide more flexibility in evening trips.

While these new transportation services significantly increase the options that travelers have for their commute and the travel choice in the morning commute directly impacts the feasible options for the evening commute, the net effect of these new services on the long term efficiency, sustainability, and equity of urban transportation systems remain to be better understood. There is a clear need to not only understand the nature and effect of these new mobility services better, but also to understand, model, and study the interactions between the various modes of transportation, and integrate them in a unified transportation planning model that includes morning and evening



commute trips. However, prior research models typically treat these two commute trips separately (Xiao et al., 2016; Ma and Zhang, 2017; Liu and Li, 2017; Su and Wang, 2019; Lin et al., 2020). To the best of our knowledge, there is no research to provide a general equilibrium model to both capture the complex interactions between solo driving, ridesharing, and e-hailing and allow travelers to switch between different transportation modes in a coupled morning-evening commute. In order to address the research gap, we develop a general modeling framework to simultaneously consider the morning and evening commute. The objective of this research is to understand the impact of the new shared mobility modes on the coupling of the morning and evening commute: traffic congestion, travelers' behavior of mode choices, and efficiency of the overall urban transportation systems.

Without a coupled modeling approach, planners could solve a traffic assignment problem using estimated cost and value of time data to predict and understand traveler behavior during the morning commute. The same could be done for the evening commute but there would have to be the added constraint that if an individual chose to drive in the morning that they would also need to drive in the evening. A coupled modelling approach would be able to capture traveler behavior for the entire day and allow for travelers to switch one type of commute mode in the morning to another in the evening. For various reasons, travelers may switch from one type of commute mode in the morning to a different type in the evening: rideshare passengers and e-hailing passengers may switch among these two types. This capturing of mode switches is especially important if the travel cost data is different in the morning and evening times. For example, a traveler with a high inconvenience cost for ridesharing in the afternoon, which may be due to the need to pick up their children from after school activities, will not use this mode in the afternoon, but may consider this option in the morning with the appropriate incentives since they would be able to take e-hailing in the afternoon. With a coupled model, transportation planners can better understand appropriate incentives that captures the entire day to increase vehicle occupancy and reduce vehicles miles traveled. We note that even when the cost structure for the morning and evening commutes are



the same, a coupled model could yield a different equilibrium solution (e.g., number of drivers, total VMT, etc) than the separate models if the traffic network is not symmetrical.

In this report, we first develop an equilibrium model that considers multiple transportation modes (solo driving, e-hailing and ridesharing) and integrates the morning and evening commutes. Then we show an equilibrium solution exists for our proposed model. Furthermore, we run some experiments to show the effectiveness of our coupled model in capturing possible mode switch behavior with the appropriate incentives compared with treating the commute trips separately. The remainder of the report is organized as follows. In Section 2, we review the relevant literature. Section 3 provides the coupled morning-evening traffic equilibrium model, while Section 4 analyzes mathematical properties of the proposed model. In Section 5, experimental results are given to validate our model. Section 6 concludes this report and points out some possible directions for future research.



2. Literature Review

There have been extensive efforts to model the emerging shared mobility transportation services, and many of these papers mainly focus on the transportation network companies' (TNCs') daily operations (Furuhata et al., 2013; Mourad et al., 2019; Wang and Yang, 2019; Yan et al., 2019; Tafreshian et al., 2020). In this section, we review the papers that are most relevant to our research, which includes two categories: (1) equilibrium of shared mobility transportation systems, and (2) shared mobility services in the morning commute.

There has been some research that formulates the new shared mobility modes as a Traffic Assignment Problem (Sheffi, 1985; Patriksson, 2015). Xu et al. (2015b) proposed a traffic equilibrium model with rideshare service, while Ban et al. (2019) considered the e-hailing service in their general equilibrium model. Di and Ban (2019) provided a general traffic equilibrium modeling framework, which included travelers' mode choices, rideshare equilibrium and e-hailing operations. Considering an OD-based surge pricing strategy, Ma et al. (2020) proposed a rideshare user equilibrium model with ride-matching constraints. Li et al. (2020) studied a path-based rideshare equilibrium model to simultaneously produce route choices, mode choices, and matching decisions. Instead of using a mixed complementary formulation, Wang et al. (2020) established a convex programming formulation for the rideshare user equilibrium problem. To better understand vacant trips generated by e-hailing service, Xu et al. (2020) put forward a network equilibrium model to capture both cruising and deadheading trips of e-hailing vehicles.

With the traffic equilibrium including shared mobility services as a lower level problem, researchers extended the literature of the Transportation Network Design Problem (Yang and Bell, 1998; Chen et al., 2011; Farahani et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2016). For example, Di et al. (2018) extended the rideshare equilibrium framework of Xu et al. (2015b) to optimize the deployment of high-occupancy toll (HOT) lanes.

Since the shared mobility transportation market may influence traffic congestion, some research explored the equilibrium in shared mobility transportation market, and its impacts on or interaction



with the equilibrium in a traffic network. Xu et al. (2015a) combined an elastic demand traffic equilibrium model with an economic pricing model to determine the rideshare price. Under the scenario of mixed e-hailing and taxi market, He and Shen (2015) established a spatial equilibrium model to balance supply and demand in the market, and at the same time evaluated travelers' possible adoption to the emerging e-hailing service; Qian and Ukkusuri (2017) investigated the equilibrium of the competitive market by modeling it as a multiple-leader-follower game: passengers are the leaders who aim to minimize the cost, while drivers are the followers seeking to maximize the profit. Li et al. (2019) studied the impact of regulation on TNCs based on a queuing theoretic market equilibrium model. Ke et al. (2020a) explored the effects of key decision variables of an e-hailing platform (such as price and vehicle fleet size) on its revenue and social welfare. With a macroscopic fundamental diagram to characterize traffic congestion, Ke et al. (2020b) proposed an e-hailing market equilibrium model with congestion effects. Zhang and Nie (2020) put forward a matching-based market equilibrium model to explore the influence of regulation on both e-hailing and rideshare services.

Some papers extended the Morning Commute Problem (Vickrey, 1969; Newell, 1987, 1988; Daganzo and Garcia, 2000; Nie and Zhang, 2009; Shen and Zhang, 2009; Liu and Nie, 2011; Qian et al., 2012; Xiao and Zhang, 2014) by considering the emerging transportation services. Xiao et al. (2016) explored the morning commute problem with rideshare service and parking space limitation. Ma and Zhang (2017) studied the integration of rideshare in the morning commute from home to the central business district under a dynamic rideshare payment. Liu and Li (2017) investigated the dynamic rideshare user equilibrium during morning commute under the fixed-ratio chargingcompensation scheme (FCS), while Wang et al. (2019) examined an extended version under the variable-ratio charging-compensation scheme (VCS). Considering parking space constraints, Su and Wang (2019) addressed the problem of regulating the supply of rideshare services in the morning commute. Lin et al. (2020) studied the influence of HOV/HOT lines on dynamic rideshare during morning commute.

In summary, we extend the current literature by providing a general equilibrium model framework to capture both e-hailing and rideshare services in the coupled morning-evening commute.



3. Mathematical Model

3.1. Problem description

We propose an extended path-induced cycle-based traffic equilibrium problem of morning and evening commutes, taking into account the emergent travel trends of ridesharing and e-hailing that offer alternative modes of travel supplementing the traditional mode of commute: solo driving. The goal of the model is to study the morning and evening commute trip flows in the network caused by traffic congestion and the travelers' choices of commute types to minimize their disutilities. Most importantly, our approach is holistic, combining morning travel from an origin to a destination and evening return from the same destination (which therefore is the origin of the evening trip) to the morning's origin; this round trip constitutes the commute cycle (cc). Specifically, each such cycle is composed of a morning trip taken on a path and an evening trip taken on a possibly different (reverse) path with possibly a different mode. The cycle flows encompass travelers' commute behavior; the equilibrium will determine the travelers' cycle selections by equilibrating the cycle flows with the travelers' disutilities associated with the particular round-trip (i.e., cycle) choices based on an extension of Wardrop's user equilibrium principle.

As illustrated in Fig. 1, there are 3 types of commuters: (a) drivers, labelled as 1; (b) rideshare passengers, labelled as 2; and (c) e-hailing passengers, labelled as 3. Trip makers travel from home to work in the morning as one of these 3 types of commuters and from work to home in the evening. For various reasons, travelers may switch from one type of commute mode in the morning to a different type in the evening: rideshare passengers and e-hailing passengers may switch among these two types. As a result, there are 5 types of mode combinations between morning commuters and evening commuters in total (see Fig. 1). Labeled by $j \in \{1, \dots, 5\}$, each of these 5 mode combination types is incident to a unique pair of commuters, which we label as j_{am} and j_{pm} , both being indices in $\{1, 2, 3\}$, respectively. For instance, the combination j = 3 means morning rideshare passenger (2) switched to evening e-hailing passenger (3); thus for this j, we have $j_{am} = 2$ and $j_{pm} = 3$. Based on a set of travel costs, the model aims to determine a user equilibrium of trips under a set of



reasonable and realistic assumptions and subject to traffic congestion. In the process, the model also determines the switches of the commuter types in the morning and the evening trips. The correspondences between the mode combinations and commuter types are listed in the following table:

j	$j_{ m am}$	$j_{ m pm}$
1	1	1
2	2	2
3	2	3
4	3	2
5	3	3

mode combination morning commuter type evening commuter type

A morning OD pair k = (o; d) becomes the OD pair $\bar{k} = (d; o)$ in the evening. That is to say, the origin and destination of morning OD-pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ becomes the destination and origin of evening OD-pair \bar{k} , respectively. Corresponding to each morning OD-pair k and evening reverse OD-pair \bar{k} is a set \mathcal{C}_k of **commute cycles** c_k each consisting of a pair of morning and evening paths used by this cycle; conversely, associated with each commute cycle $c \in \mathcal{C} \triangleq \bigcup_{k \in \mathcal{K}} \mathcal{C}_k$ is a unique morning OD-pair and its evening reverse OD-pair. Therefore, the association $k \in \mathcal{K} \mapsto c_k \in \mathcal{C}$ is multi-valued while its inverse is single-valued. It is possible that two commute cycles c_k and c'_k associated with the same OD-pair k can use the same morning path and yet differ in the evening paths; similarly, it is also possible for these two commute cycles to differ in the morning paths but use the same evening path. Flows on such commute cycles are the primary decision variables of the model.





Figure 1. Multiple modes and combinations of morning and evening commutes.

The arrow $i \to i^{\,\prime}$ means that traveler type $i \in \{1,2,3\}$ in morning

becomes traveler type $i' \in \{1,2,3\}$ in evening.

3.2. Model notations and assumptions

Notations used in this study are summarized as follows, including input sets and parameters in Table 1 and decision variables in Table 2.

Table 1.	Input	sets	and	parameters
----------	-------	-----------------------	-----	------------

\mathcal{N}	Set of nodes, $n \in \mathcal{N}$
\mathcal{A}	Set of (directed) arcs, $a \in \mathcal{A}$
\mathcal{K}	Set of morning origin-destination (OD) pairs; subset of $\mathcal{N} \times \mathcal{N}$
$ar{k}$	Evening return OD-pair corresponding to morning OD-pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$
\mathcal{C}_k	Set of commute cycles associated with OD pair k (and its evening reverse pair \bar{k})
$p_c^{ m am}$	The morning path used by commute cycle $c \in \mathcal{C}$
$p_c^{ m pm}$	The evening path used by commute cycle $c \in \mathcal{C}$
d_k	Total trip demand of OD pair k (morning demand = evening return demand)
$O_k^{1;\mathrm{am}}$	Operation cost of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning drivers
$O^{1; ext{pm}}_{ar{k}}$	Operation cost of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening drivers
$I_k^{i;\mathrm{am}}$	Unit inconvenience of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning commuter type $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$



(Table 1 continued)

$I^{i; ext{pm}}_{ar{k}}$	Unit inconvenience of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening commuter type $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$
$E_k^{3;\mathrm{am}}$	Unit payment of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for e-hailing passengers in the morning
$E^{3;\mathrm{pm}}_{ar{k}}$	Unit payment of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for e-hailing passengers in the evening
$\underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}$	Minimum unit payment of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning rideshare commuter
$\underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	Minimum unit payment of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening rideshare commuter
$\gamma_k^{2;\rm am}$	Conversion factor of rideshare under-capacity to surcharge over minimum unit pay-
	ment of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning rideshare commuter
$\gamma^{2;\mathrm{pm}}_{ar{k}}$	Conversion factor of rideshare under-capacity to surcharge over minimum unit pay-
	ment of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening rideshare commuter
$W_k^{i;\mathrm{am}}$	Waiting time of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning commuter type $i \in \{2, 3\}$
$W^{i; ext{pm}}_{ar{k}}$	Waiting time of reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening commuter type $i \in \{2, 3\}$
M	Capacity in terms of number of rideshare passengers for each private car
$\delta_{a;p}$	Arc-path incidence indicator; $\delta_{a;p} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if path } p \text{ uses arc } a \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$
t	The Pureau of Public Poods (PDP) travel time function for and a C A as a function
$\iota_a(\bullet)$	The Dureau of Fublic Roads (DFR) travel time function for arc $a \in A$ as a function
	of traffic flow
ψ	Conversion factor of time (minutes) to money (dollars)

Table 2. Decision variables

Primary:	
h_c^j	Flow of travelers of commute cycle $c \in C$ of mode combination type $j \in \{1,, 5\}$
$E_k^{2;\mathrm{am}}$	Unit payment of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for morning rideshare commuter type
$E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	Unit payment of the reverse OD pair \bar{k} for evening rideshare commuter type
u_k	(Least) disutility of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$



(Table 2 continued)

Derived:	
$f_a^{ m am}$	Vehicular flow of arc $a \in \mathcal{A}$ in the morning
$f_a^{ m pm}$	Vehicular flow of arc $a \in \mathcal{A}$ in the evening
d_k^j	Travel demand of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ of mode combination type $j \in \{1,, 5\}$
π_c^j	Total cost on commute cycle $c \in C$ of mode combination type $j \in \{1,, 5\}$
$lpha_k^{ m am}$	Average number of morning rides have passengers of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$
$lpha_{ar k}^{ m pm}$	Average number of evening rides have passengers of the reverse OD pair \bar{k}
$c_a^{\rm am}(f^{ m am})$	Travel cost on arc $a \in \mathcal{A}$ in morning commute as a function of arc flows $f^{\mathrm{am}} \triangleq$
	$\set{f_a^{ ext{am}}}_{a\in\mathcal{A}}$
$c_a^{ m pm}(f^{ m pm})$	Travel cost on arc $a \in \mathcal{A}$ in evening commute as a function of arc flows $f^{\text{pm}} \triangleq$
	$\set{f_a^{ ext{pm}}}_{a\in\mathcal{A}}$
$C_c^{i;\mathrm{am}}(h)$	Total cost on morning path p_c^{am} used by commute cycle $c \in \mathcal{C}$ and commuter type
	$i \in \{1,, 3\}$ as a function of commute cycle flow $h \triangleq \{(h_c^j)_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \mid j=1 \}$
$C_c^{i;\mathrm{pm}}(h)$	Total cost on evening path p_c^{pm} used by commute cycle $c \in \mathcal{C}$ and commuter type
	$i \in \{1,, 3\}$ as a function of commute cycle flow

Assumptions about the model are as follows:

- There is no distinction between rideshare and solo drivers; each is operating a vehicle.
- All drivers are willing to share vehicles and provide rideshare services.

• There is the same passenger capacity in each rideshare vehicle. And the passenger capacity for each e-hailing vehicle is one. That is, each e-hailing vehicle satisfies one unit of demand.

• The rideshare capacity constraints are enforced at the aggregate level, not at the vehicle level.

That is, for each OD pair, the total number of rideshare passengers over the total number of drivers

has to be less than or equal to the vehicle capacity.



Several other remarks about the model:

• All variables are expressed as real numbers; in particular, the travel demands d_k are considered as traveler (i.e. people) flows, so are d_k^j and the commute cycle flows h_c^j . The am and pm arc flows f_a^{am} and f_a^{pm} are vehicular flows, which are the source of traffic congestion.

• The commute cycle flows h_c^j for j = 1, 3, 4, and 5 contribute to the arc flows (either morning or evening or both), thus to congestion, while the other commute types do not.

• Each e-hailing vehicle is assumed to pick up only one passenger.

• We postulate a minimum per-passenger rideshare fee which becomes the charged payment if the rideshare vehicle is at capacity. As a result of this postulate, the unit passenger rideshare payment is a decision variable to be determined from the model. The payment can be equal to the set minimum, or a higher value if the rideshare is below capacity. This addition to the minimum payment (if positive) is equal to a multiplicative factor of the under-capacity.

3.3. Connections among variables and functions

(1) Relationships between arc and cycle flows:

Arc flows have 3 components as shown in Fig. 2 and are calculated as the summation of the associated path flows as follows. Here $\delta_{a;p_c^{\text{am}}}$ and $\delta_{a;p_c^{\text{pm}}}$ are the arc-path indicators in the morning and in the evening, respectively. Note that the flows of rideshare passengers are not considered here since they have no influence on traffic congestion.

$$\forall a \in \mathcal{A} \quad \begin{cases} f_a^{\mathrm{am}} = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \left[\sum_{j=1,4,5} h_c^j \times \delta_{a;p_c^{\mathrm{am}}} \right] \\ f_a^{\mathrm{pm}} = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \left[\sum_{j=1,3,5} h_c^j \times \delta_{a;p_c^{\mathrm{pm}}} \right] \end{cases}$$
(1)





Figure 2. Components of flow between arc (x, y) in network

(the flows of rideshare passengers do not influence traffic congestion)

(2) Arc cost functions:

The notations c_a^{am} and c_a^{pm} offer the possibility that the arc cost on the same arc *a* may be different in the morning and evening, respectively. Assuming separable arc costs, we have,

$$c_a^{\rm am}(f^{\rm am}) = t_a(f_a^{\rm am}) \quad \forall a \in \mathcal{A}$$

$$c_a^{\rm pm}(f^{\rm pm}) = t_a(f_a^{\rm pm}) \quad \forall a \in \mathcal{A}$$
(2)

where $t_a(\bullet)$ represents the Bureau of Public Roads (BPR) travel time function for arc $a \in \mathcal{A}$ as a function of traffic flow. The cost on arc a is a function of the flow on that arc only. Note that the arc costs in the morning are different from those in the evening due to the difference in flows, even on the same arc.

(3) Cost functions for commuter types:

We assume throughout that the commute cycle costs are additive; that is, each such cycle cost is equal to the sum of the costs on the arcs used by the two morning and evening paths, respectively, in the cycle. Besides the travel cost due to congestion, there are many other components that contribute to the total cost, which differ between the commuter types. For each trip, the total travel cost equals to the summation of travel cost due to congestion and specific costs for the commuter type. The cost structures of different commuter types in our model are as follows. Unlike Xu et al.



(2015) which builds the arc costs in a rideshare model, here we directly formulate the commute cycle cost functions.

a) Drivers:

total cost = travel cost (BPR function) + operation cost (different constants between ODs)
+ inconvenience of rideshare (function of number of passengers) - income from rideshare
(different constants between ODs, times number of passengers)

$$C_{c}^{1;\mathrm{am}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{am}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{am}}(f^{\mathrm{am}}) \right) + \underbrace{O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} + \underbrace{O_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \times \left(I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - \underbrace{E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \right)$$

$$\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$C_{c}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{pm}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{pm}}(f^{\mathrm{pm}}) \right) + \underbrace{O_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} + \underbrace{O_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \times \left(I_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}} - \underbrace{E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \right)$$

$$\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \text{ and associated } \bar{k}$$

$$(3)$$

Note that the right-hand sides are functions of the arc flows; yet we write the left-hand sides as functions of the commute cycle flows; this is done with the understanding that once the arc flows in the right-hand sides are substituted by their connections to the commute cycle flows through the expressions (1), the substituted left-hand sides are indeed function of the latter flows. The operation cost includes parking, depreciation, insurance, maintenance and so on, which may differ between OD pairs and in the morning and evening; e.g., there is no parking cost in the evening commute.

The inconvenience of drivers with extra passengers includes anxiety for riding with strangers, detours, etc, which is increased with the number of passengers. Income to a driver with extra passengers equals to the total payment by the rideshare passengers in the car. The inconvenience and price of rideshare may differ between OD pairs and could be different between morning and evening. Although the detour is not considered in the model for simplification, it could be viewed as considered here in the inconvenience function: the inconvenience is increased with the number



of passengers, which is a relationship between inconvenience, detour distance and number of passengers - the more passengers, the more detour distance, at the same time the more inconvenience.

b) Rideshare passengers:

total cost = travel cost (BPR function) + waiting cost for rideshare (different constants between ODs) + inconvenience of rideshare (function of number of passengers) + payment for rideshare (different constants between ODs)

$$C_{c}^{2;\mathrm{am}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{am}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{am}}(f^{\mathrm{am}}) \right) + \underbrace{W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} + \underbrace{\alpha_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \times I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \underbrace{E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \right)$$

$$\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$C_{c}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{pm}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{pm}}(f^{\mathrm{pm}}) \right) + \underbrace{W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} + \underbrace{\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \times I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} + \underbrace{E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} \right)$$

$$(4)$$

 $\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k \text{ and associated } k$

Here we treat the waiting cost as different constants between ODs. The inconvenience of rideshare passengers, similar to the inconvenience of drivers, increases with the number of passengers. The total payment of rideshare passengers is the same as the income received by the drivers with extra passengers.

c) E-hailing passengers:

total cost = travel cost (BPR function) + waiting cost for e-hailing (different constants
between ODs) + inconvenience of e-hailing (different constants between ODs) + payment for
e-hailing (different constants between ODs)

$$C_{c}^{3;\mathrm{am}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{am}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{am}}(f^{\mathrm{am}}) \right) + \underbrace{W_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}} + I_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}} + E_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$C_{c}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}(h) = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a;p_{c}^{\mathrm{pm}}} \times c_{a}^{\mathrm{pm}}(f^{\mathrm{pm}}) \right) + \underbrace{W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad (5)$$

$$(5)$$



The waiting cost is treated as a kind of constant which differs between ODs. Inconvenience of e-hailing is also a constant that differs between ODs since we assume no pooling for e-hailing. Unit payment for e-hailing passengers should be higher than that of rideshare passengers.

(4) Cost functions for mode combination types:

The total cost of each mode combination and each commute cycle is the summation of the costs in the morning and evening. We have

$$\pi_c^j = C_c^{u;\mathrm{am}}(h) + C_c^{v;\mathrm{pm}}(h) \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}, \quad \forall j \in \{1, \dots, 5\} \text{ with } u = j_{\mathrm{am}} \text{ and } v = j_{\mathrm{pm}}$$
(6)

3.4. Flow conservation equations

Demand distribution equations are used to balance total trip demands with commute cycle flows and ensuring morning trip demands equal evening trip demands

• per mode combination type

$$d_k^j = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_k} h_c^j = d_{\bar{k}}^j \quad \forall j \in \{1, 2, \cdots, 5\}, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$\tag{7}$$

• morning and evening trip demands, aggregated to total trip demands

$$d_k = \sum_{j=1}^5 d_k^j = \sum_{j=1}^5 \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_k} h_c^j, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$\tag{8}$$

3.5. Rideshare capacity and addition to minimum fare

In this section, we first compute the average number of rideshare passengers in each vehicle for each OD pair and then describe the rideshare payment scheme.

rideshare passenger flow = average number of rideshare passengers per car \times number of cars, with the average number slightly adjusted to avoid division by zero

Written as a fraction, the formulas for the (approximate) average number of rideshare passengers per car are as follows: for a small scalar $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\alpha_k^{\rm am} = \frac{d_k^2 + d_k^3}{d_k^1 + \varepsilon} \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\rm pm} = \frac{d_k^2 + d_k^4}{d_k^1 + \varepsilon} \quad k \in \mathcal{K}, \quad \text{associated } \forall \bar{k}$$
(9)



For the overall equilibrium model, existence of a solution can be established as long as α_k^{am} and α_k^{pm} are continuous functions of the commute combination demands d_k^j , thus of the commute cycle flows h_c^j . The above are examples of such functions.

Based on the pair of averages $(\alpha_k^{am}, \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{pm})$ we propose a corresponding pair additions to the minimum rideshare fares. The averages are decision variables subject to the upper bound M. The under-capacity will translate into added payment to the minimum rideshare fee. We model this preliminary consideration by the following constraints:

$$0 \leq \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}}\right) - \left(E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}\right) \perp E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \geq 0 \ \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$0 \leq \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}}\right) - \left(E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}\right) \perp E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \geq 0 \ \forall \bar{k},$$

$$(10)$$

where \perp is the perpendicularity notation, which in this context has several consequences for the morning and evening rideshares; we describe only the morning ones:

• if $\alpha_k^{\text{am}} = M$ (i.e., if rideshare is at capacity), then $E_k^{2;\text{am}} = \underline{E}_k^{2;\text{am}}$ (i.e., the payment is at its minimum);

• if $E_k^{2;am} > \underline{E}_k^{2;am}$ (i.e., if the payment exceeds its minimum), then $\alpha_k^{am} < M$ (i.e., rideshare must be below capacity) and, more importantly, $E_k^{2;am} - \underline{E}_k^{2;am} = \gamma_k^{2;am} (M - \alpha_k^{am})$ (i.e., the addition to the minimum payment is a constant factor of the under-capacity);

• in the other two cases, that is, if $E_k^{2;am} = \underline{E}_k^{2;am}$, then rideshare may or may not be at capacity; similarly, if $\alpha_k^{am} < M$, then rideshare payment may be equal to or exceed the minimum.

An additional consequence of the above complementarity conditions is that the addition to the minimum payment is bounded above by a constant multiplicative factor of the rideshare undercapacity so that the total payment will not be unreasonably high. Unfortunately, given α_k^{am} and α_k^{am} , the complementarity conditions (10) do not determine the additional payments over the minimum



payments uniquely. To achieve this uniqueness, we postulate the following models to determine the additional payments, given the average α_k^{am} of rideshare passengers,

$$\begin{array}{l} \underset{E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}{\min\mathrm{init}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \right)^{2} - \left(E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \right) \left[\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}} \right) \right] \\ \text{subject to } 0 \leq E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \leq \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}} \right).
\end{array} \tag{11}$$

In essence, this yields

$$E_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} = \gamma_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_k^{\mathrm{am}} \right), \quad \text{if } \alpha_k^{\mathrm{am}} \le M, \tag{12}$$

which essentially fixes the excess payment to be equal to the multiplicative factor $\gamma_k^{2;am}$ times the under-capacity when the ratio α_k^{am} , which is a decision variable of the model, satisfies the upper bound M. Since such a bound is guaranteed to be satisfied only through a solution of the model, we need to impose the bound explicitly in defining the model. Thus instead of using (12) directly, we employ the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker optimality conditions of the above simple bounded quadratic program (11) which we write in the form of the following complementarity conditions, where $\lambda_k^{2;am}$ is a multiplier for the upper bound constraint of $E_k^{2;am} - \underline{E}_k^{2;am}$ in this program:

$$0 \leq \gamma_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_k^{\mathrm{am}} \right) - \left(E_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \right) \qquad \perp \lambda_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \geq 0$$

$$0 \leq \left(E_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \right) - \gamma_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_k^{\mathrm{am}} \right) + \lambda_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \perp E_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\mathrm{am}} \geq 0,$$

$$(13)$$

where \perp is the perpendicularity notation, which in this context asserts the complementary slackness condition of the quadratic program (11). From quadratic programming and linear complementarity theory (Cottle et al., 2009), we know that the unique $E_k^{2;am}$ satisfying the above complementarity conditions is a piecewise affine, thus a Lipschitz continuous function of α_k^{am} , and thus of the commute cycle flows h_c^j . A similar set of pm conditions is as follows:

$$0 \leq \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}} \right) - \left(E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \right) \qquad \perp \lambda_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \geq 0$$

$$0 \leq \left(E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \right) - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}} \right) + \lambda_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \perp E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} \geq 0,$$

$$(14)$$



3.6. User equilibrium

We apply the user equilibrium principle that describes a complementary relation between the daily commute flows and the travelers' minimum disutilities; it is based on the combined morningevening round trips, allowing switches of commute types. This type of equilibrium distinguishes itself from the separate morning equilibrium and evening equilibrium. Yet the disutilities pertain to each OD pair k and the flows h_c^j of all the cycles $c \in C_k$ joining that OD pair and across the 3 commute types. That is to say, for each OD pair k, the chosen mode combinations $c \in C_k$ joining this OD pair among the 3 types in Figure 1 will all have travel costs equal to the least disutility of the OD pair in question, and this common cost is the smaller than the travel costs of the unchosen mode combinations joining the same OD pair. This is exactly Wardrop's user equilibrium principle for the commute cycle flows instead of the path flows in a traditional traffic equilibrium problem. This equilibrating process incorporates the switches of commute types between morning and evening trips.

Thus the user equilibrium conditions for the combined morning and evening commutes among the 5 mode combination types are:

$$0 \leq h_c^j \perp \pi_c^j - u_k \geq 0, \quad \forall j \in \{1, \cdots, 5\}; \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k,$$

where \perp is the perpendicularity notation, which in this context asserts the complementarity between the commute cycle flows and the travelers' deviations from the minimum disutilities. In words, if a traveler chooses the combination $c \in C_k$, then the cycle cost/disutility of this combination must be the minimum of all costs for this OD pair k.

3.7. The overall equilibrium model

In this section, we summarize the aforementioned sections and develop a general equilibrium model to capture the complicated interactions between drivers, rideshare passengers and e-hailing passengers that allows travelers to switch between different transportation modes in a coupled morningevening commute. The model is formulated as a mixed complementarity problem as follows.



$$0 \le h_c^j \perp \pi_c^j - u_k \ge 0, \quad \forall j \in \{1, \cdots, 5\}; \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k,$$
(15)

$$d_k = \sum_{j=1}^5 d_k^j = \sum_{j=1}^5 \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_k} h_c^j, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$(16)$$

$$0 \leq \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}}\right) - \left(E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}\right) \qquad \pm \lambda_{k}^{\mathrm{am}} \geq 0 \qquad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$0 \leq \left(E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}\right) - \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}}\right) + \lambda_{k}^{\mathrm{am}} \qquad \pm E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \geq 0 \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$0 \leq \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}}\right) - \left(E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}\right) \qquad \pm \lambda_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}} \geq 0 \qquad \text{associated } \forall \bar{k}$$

$$0 \leq \left(E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}\right) - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}}\right) + \lambda_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}} \perp E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \geq 0 \qquad \text{associated } \forall \bar{k}$$

$$(17)$$

where constraints (15) are the user equilibrium conditions for the combined morning and evening commutes among the 5 mode combination types; constraints (16) are the flow conservation equations to balance total trip demands with commute cycle flows and ensure morning trip demands equal to evening trip demands; constraints (17) ensure solution uniqueness for $E_k^{2;\text{am}}$ and $E_k^{2;\text{pm}}$ if α_k^{am} and α_k^{pm} are determined, and satisfy the rideshare capacity, i.e., number of rideshare passengers must be no larger than capacity for each private car times the number of drivers. Here λ_k^{am} and λ_k^{pm} are multipliers. Actually, constraints (17) are equivalent to constraints (18) as follows:

$$E_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} = \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \left(M - \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}}\right) \quad \text{if } \alpha_{k}^{\mathrm{am}} \leq M \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} = \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \left(M - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}}\right) \quad \text{if } \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\mathrm{pm}} \leq M \quad \text{associated } \forall \bar{k}$$

$$(18)$$



4. Model Analysis

In this section, properties of our model are analyzed. First, we show that the proposed (mixed) complementarity formulation is equivalent to a variational inequality, and prove the existence of an equilibrium. Then we prove the relationship between the proposed coupled morning-evening traffic equilibrium model and morning (evening) commute problem. Finally, we present some conditions where in equilibrium the travelers' mode choices are unique.

4.1. Existence of an equilibrium

The primary decision variables of the proposed model are:

- commute cycle flows: $\{h_c^j \mid j = 1, \cdots, 5\}_{c \in \mathcal{C}};$
- average number of rideshare passengers: $\left\{ \alpha_{k}^{\text{am}}; \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}} \right\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$
- unit rideshare payments: $\left\{ E_{k}^{2;am}; E_{\bar{k}}^{2;pm} \right\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$
- least travel disutilities of OD pairs: $\{u_k\}_{k\in\mathcal{K}}$.

Among the above variables, the basic ones are the commute cycle flows h_c^j and travel disutilities of the OD pairs. After substituting the flow variables into the expressions of $\{\alpha_k^{am}; \alpha_k^{pm}\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$ and also $\{E_k^{2;am}; E_k^{2;pm}\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$ we can in turn substitute the latter variables into the rideshare cost functions $C_c^{1;am}(h)$, $C_c^{1;pm}(h)$, $C_c^{2;am}(h)$, and $C_c^{2;pm}(h)$. The end result is that all the morning and evening commute cycle cost functions $C_c^{i;am}$ and $C_c^{i;pm}$ for $i = 1, \dots, 3$ can be expressed as continuous functions of the flow variables h_c^j . In summarizing the complementarity conditions below, it is understood that all these substitutions are made. This results in the following two sets of conditions for our proposed mathematical model for the combined morning and evening commute user equilibrium problem:

• for all $k \in \mathcal{K}$, all $c \in \mathcal{C}_k$, and all $j = 1, \dots, 5$ with $u = j_{am}$ and $v = j_{pm}$,

$$0 \le h_c^j \perp \underbrace{C_c^{u;\mathrm{am}}(h) + C_c^{v;\mathrm{pm}}(h)}_{\text{denoted } \pi_c^j(h)} - u_k \ge 0, \quad \text{for all } c \in \mathcal{C}_k$$



• for all $k \in \mathcal{K}$,

$$d_k = \sum_{j=1}^5 \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_k} h_c^j.$$

Considering the variable u_k as the multiplier of the OD-demand balancing constraints, this (mixed) complementarity formulation is equivalent to a variational inequality (VI) (Facchinei and Pang, 2003) defined by the pair of mapping Φ and polyhedral set \mathcal{H} as follows:

$$\Phi(h) \triangleq (\pi_c^j(h))_{(c,j)\in\mathcal{C}\times\{1,\cdots,5\}}$$
$$\mathcal{H} \triangleq \left\{ (h_c^j)_{(c,j)\in\mathcal{C}\times\{1,\cdots,5\}} \ge 0 \mid \sum_{j=1}^5 \sum_{c\in\mathcal{C}_k} h_c^j = d_k, \quad \forall k\in\mathcal{K} \right\}.$$

Since the maping Φ is continuous and the set \mathcal{H} is compact and convex, it follows VI (Φ, \mathcal{H}) has a solution, thus so does our combined morning-evening commute model with mode switches.

4.2. Relationship with traditional models

Main highlights of the proposed model include: (1) different from the morning commute problem (Xiao et al., 2016; Ma and Zhang, 2017; Liu and Li, 2017; Su and Wang, 2019; Lin et al., 2020), our model handles coupled morning-evening commute; (2) instead of using a discrete choice model (Ben-Akiva and Lerman, 1985; Train, 2009), the number of travelers for each commuter type is derived directly from our model, as the result of the user equilibrium conditions. In this section, we show that our proposed coupled morning-evening traffic equilibrium model could produce morning (evening) commute equilibrium. Besides, the equilibrium of our model also leads to rational traveler behavior, which means that none of the travel mode combinations with higher cost will be selected. What's more, we prove that under a mild condition, the proposed model is equivalent to two separate traditional traffic equilibrium models.

To prove the aforementioned statements, we first derive an extended network for our problem. For each traveler, the total cost for the coupled morning-evening commute consists of three parts: (1) congestion cost on a selected path (consists of arcs) from home to work place in the morning; (2) specified cost for a selected travel mode combination, including the cost of travel mode from home



to work place in the morning and the cost of travel mode from work place to home in the evening; (3) congestion cost on a selected path (consists of arcs) from work place to home in the evening. As shown in Fig. 3, we construct five virtual arcs representing the five travel mode combinations (am driver + pm driver, am rideshare passenger + pm rideshare passenger, am rideshare passenger + pm e-hailing passenger, am e-hailing passenger + pm rideshare passenger, am e-hailing passenger + pm e-hailing passenger), with the specified cost (travel cost due to congestion excluded) for relevant mode combination type as the cost function. To reach or leave the work place, each traveler must choose one of the five virtual arcs, which means that each traveler need to choose one mode combination for traveling. With the virtual arcs, now we obtain the extended network for our problem, as shown in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. The extended network for our problem

Next, we redefine the cost functions for mode combination types, π_c^j . Here we define the problem of traveling from x_1 to y_1 in Fig. 3 as the **morning commute problem**, and the problem of traveling from y_2 to x_2 in Fig. 3 as the **evening commute problem**. Note that each cycle $c \in C$ includes two paths: the morning path p_c^{am} with path flow $P_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}}$ and the afternoon path p_c^{pm} with path flow $P_{p_c^{\text{pm}}}^{\text{pm}}$. Denote the total cost for the morning commute problem as $\theta_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}}$, and the total cost for the evening commute problem as $\theta_{p_c^{\text{pm}}}^{\text{pm}}$, then we have,

$$\theta_{p_c^{\rm am}}^{\rm am} = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a; p_c^{\rm am}} \times c_a^{\rm am}(f^{\rm am}) \right) \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}$$
⁽¹⁹⁾



$$\theta_{p_c^{\text{pm}}}^{\text{pm}} = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a; p_c^{\text{pm}}} \times c_a^{\text{pm}}(f^{\text{pm}}) \right) \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}$$
(20)

Denote the specified cost for travel mode combination j and commute cycle c as η_c^j , which is the cost from y_1 to y_2 in Fig. 3. Then the total cost of each mode combination and each commute cycle can be represented as

$$\pi_c^j = \theta_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}} + \eta_c^j + \theta_{p_c^{\text{pm}}}^{\text{pm}} \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}, \quad \forall j \in \{1, ..., 5\}$$
(21)

Section 4.1 guarantees the existence of an equilibrium for the proposed coupled morning-evening commute model. In Theorem 1 below, we show the properties of the proposed model when it reaches an equilibrium. Notate u_k^{am} and u_k^{pm} as the least disutility of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for the morning commute problem and the evening commute problem, respectively; notate \bar{u}_k as the least disutility of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for the mode combinations $j \in \{1, \ldots, 5\}$. Here we define that the least cycle disutility u_k is **decomposable** if it can be decomposed into the least disutility for the morning commute problem u_k^{am} , the least disutility for the evening commute problem u_k^{pm} , and the least disutility for mode combinations \bar{u}_k , i.e., $u_k = u_k^{\text{am}} + \bar{u}_k + u_k^{\text{pm}}$.

THEOREM 1. Assume that the least cycle disutility is decomposable. When the coupled morningevening commute problem reaches an equilibrium, we have the following properties:

(1) The morning commute problem reaches an equilibrium;

(2) Given travelers' mode choice is fixed, the morning commute problem is equivalent to a traditional traffic equilibrium problem;

(3) The evening commute problem also has properties (1) and (2);

(4) Travelers are rational to mode choice, which means that no traveler will choose a more expensive travel mode combination. It coincides with the basic assumption of economic consumer theory (Mas-Colell et al., 1995).

Proof.



(1) As described in Section 3.6, the user equilibrium conditions for the coupled morning-evening commute problem are:

$$0 \le h_c^j \perp \pi_c^j - u_k \ge 0, \quad \forall j \in \{1, \cdots, 5\}; \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k,$$

which, by definition, is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} \text{if} \quad \pi_c^j - u_k = 0, \quad \text{then} \quad h_c^j \geq 0 \\ \\ \text{if} \quad \pi_c^j - u_k > 0, \quad \text{then} \quad h_c^j = 0 \end{cases}$$

Since $u_k = u_k^{\text{am}} + \bar{u}_k + u_k^{\text{pm}}$, the user equilibrium conditions for the coupled morning-evening commute problem can be written as:

$$0 \le h_c^j \perp (\theta_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}} - u_k^{\text{am}}) + (\eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k) + (\theta_{p_c^{\text{pm}}}^{\text{pm}} - u_k^{\text{pm}}) \ge 0, \quad \forall j \in \{1, \cdots, 5\}; \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k,$$

Assume that the morning commute problem doesn't reach an equilibrium, which means that $\exists \theta_{p_c^{am}}^{am} - u_k^{am} > 0$ such that the path flow $P_{p_c^{am}}^{am} > 0$, i.e., the relevant cycle flow $h_c^j > 0$. Since we have $\eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k \ge 0$ and $\theta_{p_c^{pm}}^{pm} - u_k^{pm} \ge 0$, there must exist $(\theta_{p_c^{am}}^{am} - u_k^{am}) + (\eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k) + (\theta_{p_c^{pm}}^{pm} - u_k^{pm}) > 0$ such that $h_c^j > 0$, i.e.,

if
$$\pi_c^j - u_k > 0$$
, then $h_c^j > 0$

which means that the coupled morning-evening commute problem also doesn't reach an equilibrium. Contradiction happens. As a result, the morning commute problem must reach an equilibrium.

(2) From (1) we know that when the coupled morning-evening commute problem reaches an equilibrium, the morning commute problem also reaches an equilibrium. Denote u_k^{am} as the (least) disutility of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ for the morning commute problem, the equilibrium of morning commute problem can be written as:

$$0 \leq P_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}} \perp \theta_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}} - u_k^{\text{am}} \geq 0, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and } \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_k,$$

where p_c^{am} is the morning path of cycle c, with relevant path flow P_c^{am} and path cost $\theta_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}}$.



Since travelers' mode choice is fixed, we have

$$\sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}_k} P_{p_c^{\text{am}}}^{\text{am}} = d_k^1 + d_k^4 + d_k^5, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

Since $\delta_{a;p_c^{\text{am}}}$ is the arc-path incidence matrix in the morning, the morning flow on arc *a*, notate as f_a^{am} , can be calculated as

$$f_{a}^{\mathrm{am}} = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \left(P_{p_{c}^{\mathrm{am}}}^{\mathrm{am}} \times \delta_{a; p_{c}^{\mathrm{am}}} \right), \quad \forall a \in \mathcal{A}$$

Then the path cost $\theta_{p_c^{am}}^{am}$ can be written as

$$\theta_{p_c^{\mathrm{am}}}^{\mathrm{am}} = \psi \times \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\delta_{a; p_c^{\mathrm{am}}} \times c_a^{\mathrm{am}}(f_a^{\mathrm{am}}) \right) \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}$$

Actually, the formulation above is the same as the standard traffic equilibrium. Based on section 1.4.5 of Facchinei and Pang (2007), we can conclude that the morning arc flows f_a^{am} are unique. The details about the proof are as follows: the path $\cos \theta_{p_c^{am}}^{am}$ is monotone-plus since it is a VI function with the composition of the following kind: $\Phi(h) = A^T \varphi(Ah)$, for some (rectangular) matrix A and (square) mapping φ that is strictly monotone. In our case, A is the arc-path incidence matrix, c is the vector function of arc costs, h is the vector of path flows, and Φ is the vector function of path costs. Since the arc costs are separable, then c_a^{am} is strictly monotone, and $\theta_{p_c^{am}}^{am}$ becomes monotone. By these properties, $f_a^{am} = \sum_{c \in \mathcal{C}} \left(P_{p_c^{am}}^{am} \times \delta_{a;p_c^{am}} \right)$, which are the morning arc flows, are unique.

(3) Similar to the proof in (1) and (2), we can prove the same properties for the evening commute problem.

(4) Similar to the proof in (1), we can prove that the sub-problem from y_1 to y_2 in Fig. 3 also reaches an equilibrium. Since d_k^j is the travel demand of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ of mode combination type $j \in \{1, ..., 5\}$, and \bar{u}_k represents the smallest cost of OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ and travel mode combination $j \in \{1, ..., 5\}$, by definition of equilibrium, we have,

$$\begin{cases} \text{if} \quad \eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k = 0, \quad \text{then} \quad d_k^j \ge 0 \\ \text{if} \quad \eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k > 0, \quad \text{then} \quad d_k^j = 0 \quad (\text{also, the relevant} \quad h_c^j = 0) \end{cases}$$

which means that travelers will not choose a travel mode combination that is more expensive. Thus, they are rational to mode choice. $\hfill \Box$



4.3. The conditions of unique travelers' mode choice

In Section 4.2, we proved that given travelers' mode choice is fixed, the proposed coupled morningevening traffic equilibrium model is equivalent to two separate traditional traffic equilibrium models. In this section, we provide the conditions under which traveler's mode choice will be unique.

THEOREM 2. Assume that the least cycle disutility is decomposable. When the coupled morningevening commute problem reaches an equilibrium, travelers' mode choice (determined by decision variables d_k^j) is unique under any one of the following conditions:

(1) O_k^{1;am}, O_k^{1;pm}, I_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;pm} « W_k^{2;am}, W_k^{2;am}, I_k^{2;am}, I_k^{2;pm}, W_k^{3;am}, W_k^{3;am}, I_k^{3;am}, I_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;pm};
(2) W_k^{3;am}, W_k^{3;pm}, I_k^{3;am}, I_k^{3;pm}, E_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;pm} « O_k^{1;am}, O_k^{1;pm}, I_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;pm}, W_k^{2;am}, W_k^{2;pm}, I_k^{2;am}, I_k^{2;pm};
(3) Given α_k^{am} and α_k^{pm} are known constants, and O_k^{1;am}, O_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;pm}, W_k^{2;am}, W_k^{2;am}, W_k^{2;pm}, I_k^{2;am}, I_k^{2;pm};
(4) Given α_k^{am} and α_k^{pm} are known constants, and O_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;am}, I_k^{2;am}, K_k^{2;am}, I_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;pm};
(5) Given α_k^{am} and α_k^{pm} are known constants, and O_k^{1;am}, I_k^{1;am}, W_k^{3;am}, I_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;am}, E_k^{3;pm}, E_k^{3;pm}, I_k^{3;pm}, E_k^{3;pm}, E_k^{3;}

Proof.

Here we prove condition (6) as an example, and the proofs for the other conditions are similar. From Theorem 1(4) we know that when the coupled morning-evening commute problem reaches an equilibrium, the sub-problem from y_1 to y_2 in Fig. 3 also reaches an equilibrium. By definition of equilibrium, we have,

$$\begin{cases} \text{if} \quad \eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k = 0, \quad \text{then} \quad d_k^j \ge 0 \\ \text{if} \quad \eta_c^j - \bar{u}_k > 0, \quad \text{then} \quad d_k^j = 0 \quad (\text{also, the relevant} \quad h_c^j = 0) \end{cases}$$



Since $O_k^{1;\text{am}}, I_k^{1;\text{am}}, W_k^{2;\text{am}}, I_k^{2;\text{am}} \ll W_k^{3;\text{am}}, I_k^{3;\text{am}}, E_k^{3;\text{am}}$, and η_c^4, η_c^5 consist of $W_k^{3;\text{am}}, I_k^{3;\text{am}}, E_k^{3;\text{am}}$ while $\eta_c^1, \eta_c^2, \eta_c^3$ don't, thus we have $\eta_c^1, \eta_c^2, \eta_c^3 \ll \eta_c^4, \eta_c^5$. According to the definition of equilibrium above, we have $d_k^4 = d_k^5 = 0$ and $d_k^1 \ge 0, d_k^2 \ge 0, d_k^3 \ge 0$.

For each $k \in \mathcal{K}$ and relevant \bar{k} , the linear equation system that α_k^{am} , $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$, d_k^j must satisfy in the proposed model is as follows:

$$\begin{cases} d_k^1 + d_k^2 + d_k^3 + d_k^4 + d_k^5 = d_k \\ \alpha_k^{\rm am} d_k^1 - d_k^2 - d_k^3 = -\alpha_k^{\rm am} \epsilon \\ \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\rm pm} d_k^1 - d_k^2 - d_k^4 = -\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\rm pm} \epsilon \end{cases}$$

Since $d_k^4 = d_k^5 = 0$, we have

$$\begin{cases} d_{k}^{1} + d_{k}^{2} + d_{k}^{3} = d_{k} \\ \\ \alpha_{k}^{\text{am}} d_{k}^{1} - d_{k}^{2} - d_{k}^{3} = -\alpha_{k}^{\text{am}} \varepsilon \\ \\ \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}} d_{k}^{1} - d_{k}^{2} = -\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}} \varepsilon \end{cases}$$

Under condition (6) we have α_k^{am} and $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$ are known constants, thus the determinant of this linear equation system is

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} d_k^1 &= \frac{d_k - \alpha_k^{\text{am}}\varepsilon}{1 + \alpha_k^{\text{am}}} \ge 0\\ d_k^2 &= \frac{\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}(d_k + \varepsilon)}{1 + \alpha_k^{\text{am}}} \ge 0\\ d_k^3 &= \frac{(\alpha_k^{\text{am}} - \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}})(d_k + \varepsilon)}{1 + \alpha_k^{\text{am}}} \ge 0 \end{split}$$

Thus, the decision variables d_k^j must be unique.

In the conditions (3), (4), (5), (6), (7) of Theorem 2, we need the uniqueness of α_k^{am} and $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$. Below in Theorem 3, we give the conditions under which α_k^{am} and $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$ will be unique when Theorem 2 (6) is satisfied. Similarly, we can also give the conditions under which α_k^{am} and $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$ will be unique when we have Theorem 2 (3), (4), (5), or (7).



Let's define the specified cost functions for commuter types (driver, rideshare passengers, and e-hailing passengers). Since the congestion cost will not influence travelers' mode choice, here we define the specified cost functions for commuter types as the cost for choosing a travel mode, which means that the congestion cost is excluded. Denote the specified cost function for commuter type i and OD pair k as $\bar{C}_k^{i;am}$ in the morning and $\bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{i;pm}$ in the evening, from Section 3.3(3) and Section 3.5, we have the specified cost functions for the three commuter types as follows,

a) Drivers:

$$\bar{C}_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{am}}) = O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} + \left(I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - M \times \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}\right) \times \underbrace{\alpha_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} + \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} \times \underbrace{\left(\alpha_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}\right)^{2}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}}
\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}
\bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) = O_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}} + \left(I_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}\right) \times \underbrace{\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}} + \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \times \underbrace{\left(\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}\right)^{2}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}}
\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{k}} \text{ and associated } \bar{k}$$

$$(22)$$

b) Rideshare passengers:

$$\bar{C}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{am}}) = W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + M \times \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + (I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}) \times \underbrace{\alpha_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}}$$

$$\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$\bar{C}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) = W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} + \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} + M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} + (I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}) \times \underbrace{\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ variable}}$$

$$(23)$$

$$\forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{k}} \text{ and associated } k$$

c) *E*-hailing passengers:

$$\bar{C}_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}} = \underbrace{W_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}} + I_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}} + E_{k}^{3;\mathrm{am}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$\bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} = \underbrace{W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}}_{\mathrm{a \ constant}} \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{\bar{k}} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$$

$$(24)$$



Then the cost of each mode combination (the cost from y_1 to y_2 in Fig. 3) can be written as,

$$\eta_{c}^{j} = \bar{C}_{k}^{u;\mathrm{am}} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{v;\mathrm{pm}} \qquad \begin{array}{l} \forall c \in \mathcal{C}_{k}, \quad \forall c \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and associated } \bar{k}, \\ \forall j \in \{1, \dots, 5\} \text{ with } u = j_{\mathrm{am}} \text{ and } v = j_{\mathrm{pm}} \end{array}$$

$$(25)$$

THEOREM 3. Assume that the least cycle disutility is decomposable. When the coupled morningevening commute problem reaches an equilibrium and Theorem 2 (6) is satisfied, α_k^{am} and $\alpha_{\bar{k}}^{\text{pm}}$ are unique under the following conditions:

$$\begin{aligned} (1) \ \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} &= \frac{W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} - W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}}{I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}} \in [0, M] \\ (2) \ M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} > 0 \\ (3) \ O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) > 0 \\ (4) \ (I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}})M + O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) < 0 \end{aligned}$$

Proof.

From Theorem 1(4), we know that when the coupled morning-evening commute problem reaches an equilibrium, the sub-problem from y_1 to y_2 in Fig. 3 also reaches an equilibrium. According to Theorem 2(6), we have $d_k^4 = d_k^5 = 0$ and $d_k^1 \ge 0$, $d_k^2 \ge 0$, $d_k^3 \ge 0$. With loss of generality, let $\eta_c^1 - \bar{u}_k = \eta_c^2 - \bar{u}_k = \eta_c^3 - \bar{u}_k$ we have,

$$\eta_c^1 = \eta_c^2 = \eta_c^3$$

From $\eta_c^2 = \bar{C}_k^{2;am}(\alpha^{am}) + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;pm}(\alpha^{pm}) = \eta_c^3 = \bar{C}_k^{2;am}(\alpha^{am}) + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{3;pm}(\alpha^{pm})$, we have $\bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;pm}(\alpha^{pm}) = \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{3;pm}(\alpha^{pm})$,

$$\begin{split} W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} + \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} + M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} + (I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}}) \times \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} = W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} \\ \alpha_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} = \frac{W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\text{pm}} - W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - E_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}}}{I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}} - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}}} \in [0, M] \end{split}$$

which means that

$$0 \le W_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} + E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}} - W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - M \times \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} \le M \times (I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}} - \gamma_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}})$$

Known the value of α^{pm} , from $\eta_c^1 = \eta_c^2$ we can derive $\bar{C}_k^{1;\text{am}}(\alpha^{\text{am}}) + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\text{pm}}(\alpha^{\text{pm}}) = \bar{C}_k^{2;\text{am}}(\alpha^{\text{am}}) + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\text{pm}}(\alpha^{\text{pm}})$, which is a quadratic equation for α^{am} . Define a quadratic function $f_k^{\text{am}}(\alpha_k^{2;\text{am}})$ for each OD pair $k \in \mathcal{K}$ as follows:



$$\begin{split} f_k^{\rm am}(\alpha_k^{2;\rm am}) &= \eta_c^1 - \eta_c^2 = \bar{C}_k^{1;\rm am}(\alpha^{\rm am}) + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) - \bar{C}_k^{2;\rm am}(\alpha^{\rm am}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) \\ &= \gamma_k^{2;\rm am} \underbrace{\left(\alpha_k^{2;\rm am}\right)^2}_{\rm a \ variable} + \left(I_k^{1;\rm am} - I_k^{2;\rm am} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\rm am} - M\gamma_k^{2;\rm am} + \gamma_k^{2;\rm am}\right) \underbrace{\alpha_k^{2;\rm am}}_{\rm a \ variable} \\ &+ O_k^{1;\rm am} - W_k^{2;\rm am} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\rm am} - M\gamma_k^{2;\rm am} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) \\ &= \gamma_k^{2;\rm am} \left(\underbrace{\alpha_k^{2;\rm am}}_{\rm a \ variable} - \frac{M\gamma_k^{2;\rm am} + \underline{E}_k^{2;\rm am} + I_k^{2;\rm am} - I_k^{1;\rm am} - \gamma_k^{2;\rm am}}{2\gamma_k^{2;\rm am}}}\right)^2 \\ &+ O_k^{1;\rm am} - W_k^{2;\rm am} - \underline{E}_k^{2;\rm am} - M\gamma_k^{2;\rm am} + \bar{C}_k^{1;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) - \bar{C}_k^{2;\rm pm}(\alpha^{\rm pm}) \\ &- \frac{(M\gamma_k^{2;\rm am} + \underline{E}_k^{2;\rm am} + I_k^{2;\rm am} - I_k^{1;\rm am} - \gamma_k^{2;\rm am})^2}{4\gamma_k^{2;\rm am}}} \end{split}$$

 $\forall k \in \mathcal{K} \text{ and associated } \bar{k}$

To ensure $\alpha_k^{2;am}$ to be unique, we need the quadratic function $f_k^{am}(\alpha_k^{2;am})$ to have only one solution within [0, M]. In order to have only one solution, the quadratic function $f_k^{am}(\alpha_k^{2;am})$ needs to satisfy:

which means that

$$\begin{split} M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} {>} 0 \\ O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) {>} 0 \\ (I_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - I_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}})M + O_{k}^{1;\mathrm{am}} - W_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - \underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} - M\gamma_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}} + \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) - \bar{C}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}(\alpha^{\mathrm{pm}}) {<} 0 \\ \\ \Box \end{split}$$



5. Computational Results

In this section, we present computational experiments illustrating the importance of having a model that combines the morning and evening commute simultaneously. We study the sensitivity analysis of three parameters: (1) $\{I_k^{2;\text{am}}; I_k^{2;\text{pm}}\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$: the inconvenience for each rideshare passenger; (2) $\{\gamma_k^{2;\text{am}}; \gamma_k^{2;\text{pm}}\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$: the conversion factors of rideshare under-capacity to surcharge; (3) $\{E_k^{3;\text{am}}; E_k^{3;\text{pm}}\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}$: unit payments for each e-hailing passenger. In addition, the outputs of the coupled model and the decoupled morning (or evening) commute model are compared. Formulated as a (mixed) complementarity problem, the proposed model is solved using the PATH solver (Ferris and Munson, 1998) coded in AMPL (Fourer et al., 2003). Two networks are used to test the model and the solution approach. One is a small network with hundreds of decision variables, while the other is the well-studied Sioux-Falls network with thousands of decision variables. Network settings in the case study are summarized in Table 3.

Table 3. Summary of the small network and the Sioux-Falls network.

	# ODs	# Variables	# Arcs	# Arcs Used	Arc Capacity	Demands
The Small Network	4	300	9	7	1000-1500	1000-1500
The Sioux-Falls Network	25	1250	76	68	4000-20000	1000-6000

5.1. Results of the small network

The structure of the small network is shown in Fig. 4. There are five nodes in total, in which node 1 is home while the rest of the nodes are work places. The travel demand for each OD pair is listed in Table 4. The BPR function we use is in equation (26) below, and relevant parameters for the arcs are shown in Table 6.

$$t_a(f_a) = t_a^0 \times \left[1 + 0.15 \left(\frac{f_a}{\operatorname{Cap}_a} \right)^4 \right] \quad \forall a \in \mathcal{A}$$
(26)

where t_a^0 represents the free flow travel time in arc a, and Cap_a is the capacity of arc a.

All other model inputs for the base case are listed in Table 5, which are determined by the following guiding principles to coincide with reality: (1) unit inconvenience for rideshare passengers



is not less than unit inconvenience for e-hailing passengers; (2) waiting time for rideshare passenger is not less than that for e-hailing passenger. Also, the parameters are designed based on Theorem 2 and Theorem 3, in order to reach a unique solution. The conversion factor of time to money, ψ , is set to be one dollar per minute.



Table 4. Travel demand for each OD pair.

Figure 4. The small network.

Parameters	Value	Units
$O_k^{1;\mathrm{am}},O_{ar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}$	6.95	Dollars
$I_k^{1;\mathrm{am}},I_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}$	0.5	Dollars
$W_k^{2;\mathrm{am}}, W_{ar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	3	Dollars
$I_k^{2;\mathrm{am}},I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	2.3	Dollars
$W_k^{3;\mathrm{am}}, W_{ar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}$	2	Dollars
$I_k^{3;\mathrm{am}},I_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}$	0.8	Dollars
$E_k^{3;\mathrm{am}},E_{\bar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}$	4.2	Dollars
$\underline{E}_k^{2;\mathrm{am}}, \underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	0	Dollars
$\gamma_k^{2;\rm am},\gamma_{\bar k}^{2;\rm pm}$	0.2	Dollars/Passengers
M	4	Passengers

Table 5. Other parameters of the base case.



Arc a	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
t^0_a	3	10	5	4	6	8	5	7	5
Cap_a	1000	1200	1500	1000	1200	1500	1000	1200	1500

Table 6. Parameters of the BPR functions.

The results of rideshare prices and travelers' mode choices when changing $I^{2;pm}$ are shown in Table 7 and Fig. 5, respectively. As demonstrated in Fig. 5(b), when we increase $I^{2;pm}$, and at the same time keep all the rest of the parameters fixed to the values given in Table 5, rideshare passengers switch to e-hailing passengers during the evening commute. At the same time, the number of drivers almost remains the same. This means that there are fewer rideshare passengers in each vehicle, which leads to higher payment for each passenger, as can be seen in Table 7.

Table 7. Results of rideshare prices when changing $I^{2;pm}$.

$I^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.6	2.9	3.2	3.5
Rideshare Price	0.500	0.509	0.522	0.533	0.563	0.587	0.606



Figure 5. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $I^{2;pm}$.

As described in Section 3.5, $\gamma^{2;am}$ and $\gamma^{2;pm}$ are actually related to the upper bound of the rideshare prices in the morning and evening, respectively. That is, the larger $\gamma^{2;am}$ or $\gamma^{2;pm}$ value



gives a higher upper bound on the morning or evening rideshare price. This explains the results illustrated in Table 8, when $\gamma^{2;\text{pm}}$ is increased, the rideshare price becomes larger, due to the higher upper bound of the rideshare price.

The results of the travelers' mode choices when changing $\gamma^{2;pm}$ can be seen in Fig. 6. Fig. 6(b) shows that when we increase $\gamma^{2;pm}$ (the evening rideshare price is increased at the same time), the number of rideshare passengers continues to decrease in the evening, switching to first drivers then e-hailing passengers. When $\gamma^{2;pm}$ is larger than 0.7, the number of rideshare passengers starts to decrease rapidly. Most of them switch to e-hailing passengers, while the number of drivers slightly decreases since the market for rideshare decreases significantly and we do not need so many drivers. In addition, we can see a coupled morning-evening effect in Fig. 6(a). Since the number of drivers should be equal for the morning and the evening, the change of morning drivers coincides with that of evening drivers: it first increases then decreases. As a result, the number of morning rideshare passengers first decreases then increases, due to the conservation of total flows for morning trip demands.



Figure 6. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $\gamma^{2;\text{pm}}$.



$\gamma^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.75	0.8	0.9
Rideshare Price	0.500	0.801	1.132	1.488	1.867	2.275	2.516	2.773	3.343

Table 8. Results of rideshare prices when changing $\gamma^{2;\text{pm}}$.

The results of how rideshare prices and travelers' mode choices change when changing $E^{3;pm}$ are shown in Table 9 and Fig. 7, respectively. As illustrated in Fig. 7(b), when $E^{3;pm}$ becomes higher, e-hailing passengers switch to drivers and even much more rideshare passengers. Consequently, there are more rideshare passengers in each vehicle, which leads to a lower rideshare price for each passenger, as can be seen in Table 9.

Table 9. Results of rideshare prices when changing $E^{3;pm}$.



Figure 7. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $E^{3;pm}$.

We next compare the equilibrium solution from the proposed coupled morning-evening model against a decoupled morning (evening) commute model when the rideshare inconvenience cost is higher during the evening commute than in the morning commute. We use the same parameters as those in Table 5, except that $I_1^{2;pm}$ is 3.5 dollars. Recall $I_1^{2;am}$ is 2.3. We assume that individuals



will use the higher cost parameters to determine their mode choice in a decoupled model. Thus, in the decoupled model, since the rideshare inconvenience cost is higher in the evening and all other parameters are the same, an individual will determine whether or not to be a driver using the evening parameter settings. Since once someone decides to be a driver, she/he remains a driver, the results of the decoupled model are obtained as follows: we first optimize the evening commute model to obtain the evening route choice and evening mode choice including being a driver; then we fix the number of drivers, and optimize the morning route choice and morning mode choice between rideshare and e-hailing. The main quantities for comparison include Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT), and number of each type of travelers.

The comparison between the two models is shown in Table 10. The decoupled model overestimates the number of drivers by 25.6% and the VMT by 2.7% compared with the coupled model because the coupled model is capable of capturing the mode switches between morning and evening, which leads to fewer drivers and less VMT in the system. In this case, 31.6% of the morning rideshare passengers switch to e-hailing service in the evening because of the higher inconvenience cost of ridesharing during the evening commute, may be due to some individuals needing to pick up their children at their after school activities, making the inconvenience of rideshare service higher during the evening. The decoupled model cannot capture this effect and most likely will predict that the traveler will drive to work, thus causing the overestimation of the number of drivers for these parameters setting.



	Coupled Model	Decoupled Model
VMT (am)	1242	1561
VMT (pm)	1796	1561
VMT (total)	3038	3121
# Drivers	414	520
# Rideshare Passengers (am)	586	480
# Rideshare Passengers (pm)	401	480
# E-hailing Passengers (am)	0	0
# E-hailing Passengers (pm)	185	0

Table 10. Comparisons between coupled model and decoupled model.

5.2. Results of the Sioux-Falls network

In this section, we test the proposed model and solution approach on the Sioux-Falls network, which is widely used by researchers to test their models. We follow the settings used in Ben (2020), including the geometry, travel demand for each OD pair, and parameters of the BPR function for each arc. We selected five nodes (1, 2, 4, 7, 9) as homes and another five nodes (13, 19, 20, 23, 24) as work places. To increase the congestion level of the network, we use ten times the travel demands in Ben (2020). Furthermore, we set the travel demand to be a small value (i.e., ten) if it is zero in order to keep the complementarity problem square. The parameters of the travel modes in the base case can be found in Table 11 and are set using the same guiding principles as in Section 5.1. The conversion factor of time to money, ψ , is set to be one dollar per minute.

Similar sensitivity analysis results are revealed as in Section 5.1. As shown in Fig. 8(b), when we increase $I^{2;pm}$, rideshare passengers switch to e-hailing passengers and drivers, which leads to fewer rideshare passengers in each vehicle and eventually leads to a more expensive rideshare price as in Table 12. As can be seen from Table 13, the rideshare price is higher as $\gamma^{2;pm}$ becomes larger, since $\gamma^{2;pm}$ is related to the upper bound of the rideshare price. Consequently, as shown in



Fig. 9(b), there are fewer rideshare passengers and more drivers. When $\gamma^{2;pm}$ is larger than 1.2, the number of rideshare passengers decreases rapidly, which leads to the significant decrease of the rideshare market. As a result, the number of drivers also decreases and number of e-hailing passengers increases rapidly. Also, the coupled morning-evening effect is shown in Fig. 9(a). The number of morning drivers first increases then decreases, since it is the same as the number of evening drivers; the number of morning rideshare passengers first decreases then increases, due to the total flow conservation for morning trip demands and evening trip demands. As illustrated in Fig. 10(b), when $E^{3;pm}$ is raised, e-hailing passengers become drivers and even more rideshare passengers. As a result, there are more rideshare passengers in each vehicle and the rideshare price decreases as in Table 14.

Parameters	Value	Units
$O_k^{1;\mathrm{am}},O_{\bar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}$	9.95	Dollars
$I_k^{1;\mathrm{am}},I_{ar{k}}^{1;\mathrm{pm}}$	1.5	Dollars
$W_k^{2;\mathrm{am}},W_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	6	Dollars
$I_k^{2;\mathrm{am}},I_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	3.3	Dollars
$W^{3;\mathrm{am}}_k,W^{3;\mathrm{pm}}_{\bar{k}}$	3.5	Dollars
$I_k^{3;\mathrm{am}},I_{ar{k}}^{3;\mathrm{pm}}$	2.3	Dollars
$E_k^{\rm 3;am},E_{\bar k}^{\rm 3;pm}$	5.7	Dollars
$\underline{E}_{k}^{2;\mathrm{am}},\underline{E}_{\bar{k}}^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	0	Dollars
$\gamma_k^{2;\rm am},\gamma_{\bar k}^{2;\rm pm}$	0.2	Dollars/Passengers
M	4	Passengers

Table 11. Parameters of the base case.

Table 12. Results of rideshare prices when changing $I^{2;pm}$.

$I^{2;\mathrm{pm}}$	3.3	3.5	3.8	4	4.3	4.5	4.8	5	5.1
Rideshare Price	0.500	0.516	0.539	0.553	0.571	0.581	0.596	0.604	0.608





Figure 8. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $I^{2;pm}$.



Table 13. Results of rides have prices when changing $\gamma^{2;\rm pm}.$



Figure 9. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $\gamma^{2;\text{pm}}$.





Table 14. Results of rideshare prices when changing $E^{3;pm}$.

Figure 10. Results of travelers' mode choices when changing $E^{3;pm}$.

In Table 15, similar results as Section 5.1 can also be found when we compare the coupled morning-evening model with the decoupled morning (evening) commute model. The results of the decoupled model are obtained with the same approach described in Section 5.1. The parameters are the same as those in Table 11, except that $I_3^{2;pm}$ is 5.1 dollars. Recall $I_3^{2;am}$ is 3.3. In this example, the decoupled model overestimates the number of drivers by 24.2% and the VMT by 8.4% for the same reasons as outlined in Section 5.1.



	Coupled Model	Decoupled Model
VMT (am)	29862	37102
VMT (pm)	38576	37102
VMT (total)	68438	74204
# Drivers	1357	1686
# Rideshare Passengers (am)	1643	1314
# Rideshare Passengers (pm)	1247	1314
# E-hailing Passengers (am)	0	0
# E-hailing Passengers (pm)	396	0

Table 15. Comparisons between coupled model and decoupled model.



6. Conclusions and Future Research

In this study, we include both e-hailing and ridesharing as travel modes and integrate morning and evening commute trips in a general network equilibrium modeling framework. The model is formulated as a (mixed) complementarity problem. We prove the solution existence for the proposed model, and show its relationship with some traditional traffic models. The proposed model is validated in two networks: a small network and the Sioux-Falls network. The results show that the proposed coupled morning-evening model is effective in capturing the mode switches between morning and evening, compared with a decoupled morning (evening) commute model. In particular, our numerical examples show that modeling morning and evening commutes separately tends to overestimate the number of drivers and total vehicle miles traveled (VMT) in the network when accounting for travelers' capabilities for mode switching. For example, in the Sioux-Falls network, the coupled model produces 24.2% fewer drivers and 8.4% less VMT in the system compared with the decoupled model when the inconvenience cost due to ridesharing is higher during the evening commute than in the morning commute. This is due to the fact that the coupled model can capture the behavior of travelers capability to switch to e-hailing in the evening commute when ridesharing in the morning commute. A decoupled model cannot capture this effect and most likely will predict that the traveler will drive to work. With a coupled model, transportation planners can better understand appropriate incentives to increase vehicle occupancy and reduce VMT.

Further research could focus on including other realistic elements in this modeling framework: deployment of High Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) lanes and rideshare pick-up and drop-off locations, to just name a few. These have the potential of integrating e-hailing and rideshare services seamlessly and more effectively, which could reduce solo driving, and consequently lessen traffic demand, congestion, and VMT.



7. References

- Ban, X. J., Dessouky, M., Pang, J. S., & Fan, R. (2019). A general equilibrium model for transportation systems with e-hailing services and flow congestion. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 129, 273-304.
- Ben, S. (2020). Transportation Networks for Research. Available at https://github.com/ bstabler/TransportationNetworks/tree/master/SiouxFalls
- Ben-Akiva, M., & Lerman, S. R. (1985). Discrete choice analysis: theory and application to travel demand. *Transportation Studies*.
- Chen, A., Zhou, Z., Chootinan, P., Ryu, S., Yang, C., & Wong, S. C. (2011). Transport network design problem under uncertainty: a review and new developments. *Transport Reviews*, 31(6), 743-768.
- Cottle, R. W., Pang, J. S., & Stone, R. E. (2009). The linear complementarity problem. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics.
- Daganzo, C. F., & Garcia, R. C. (2000). A Pareto improving strategy for the time-dependent morning commute problem. *Transportation Science*, 34(3), 303-311.
- Di, X., & Ban, X. J. (2019). A unified equilibrium framework of new shared mobility systems. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 129, 50-78.
- Di, X., Ma, R., Liu, H. X., & Ban, X. J. (2018). A link-node reformulation of ridesharing user equilibrium with network design. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 112, 230-255.
- Facchinei, F., & Pang, J. S. (2003). Finite-dimensional variational inequalities and complementarity problems. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Farahani, R. Z., Miandoabchi, E., Szeto, W. Y., & Rashidi, H. (2013). A review of urban transportation network design problems. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 229(2), 281-302.
- Ferris, M. C., & Munson, T. S. (1998). PATH 4.6 user manual. University of Wisconsin at Madison.
- Fourer, R., Gay, D. M., & Kernighan, B. W. (2003). AMPL: A modeling language for mathematical programming.



- Furuhata, M., Dessouky, M., Ordóñez, F., Brunet, M. E., Wang, X., & Koenig, S. (2013). Ridesharing: The state-of-the-art and future directions. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodologi*cal, 57, 28-46.
- He, F., & Shen, Z. J. M. (2015). Modeling taxi services with smartphone-based e-hailing applications. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 58, 93-106.
- Ke, J., Yang, H., Li, X., Wang, H., & Ye, J. (2020a). Pricing and equilibrium in on-demand ridepooling markets. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 139, 411-431.
- Ke, J., Yang, H., & Zheng, Z. (2020b). On ride-pooling and traffic congestion. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 142, 213-231.
- Iqbal, M., (2020). Uber revenue and usage statistics. Retrieved from: https://www. businessofapps.com/data/uber-statistics
- Li, Y., Liu, Y., & Xie, J. (2020). A path-based equilibrium model for ridesharing matching. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 138, 373-405.
- Li, S., Tavafoghi, H., Poolla, K., & Varaiya, P. (2019). Regulating TNCs: Should Uber and Lyft set their own rules?. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 129, 193-225.
- Liu, Y., & Li, Y. (2017). Pricing scheme design of ridesharing program in morning commute problem. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 79, 156-177.
- Liu, Y., & Nie, Y. M. (2011). Morning commute problem considering route choice, user heterogeneity and alternative system optima. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 45(4), 619-642.
- Ma, J., Xu, M., Meng, Q., & Cheng, L. (2020). Ridesharing user equilibrium problem under ODbased surge pricing strategy. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 134, 1-24.
- Ma, R., & Zhang, H. M. (2017). The morning commute problem with ridesharing and dynamic parking charges. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 106, 345-374.
- Mas-Colell, A., Whinston, M. D., & Green, J. R. (1995). Microeconomic theory. New York: Oxford university press.



- Mourad, A., Puchinger, J., & Chu, C. (2019). A survey of models and algorithms for optimizing shared mobility. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 123, 323-346.
- Newell, G. F. (1987). The morning commute for nonidentical travelers. *Transportation Science*, 21(2), 74-88.
- Newell, G. F. (1988). Traffic flow for the morning commute. Transportation Science, 22(1), 47-58.
- Nie, Y. M., & Zhang, M. H. (2009). Numerical solution procedures for the morning commute problem. *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, 49(7-8), 1295-1310.
- Patriksson, M. (2015). The traffic assignment problem: models and methods. *Courier Dover Publications*.
- Qian, Z. S., Xiao, F. E., & Zhang, H. M. (2012). Managing morning commute traffic with parking. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 46(7), 894-916.
- Schaller, B. (2017). Unsustainable? The growth of app-based ride services and traffic, travel and the future of New York City. *Schaller Consulting*.
- Sheffi, Y. (1985). Urban transportation networks (Vol. 6). Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Shen, W., & Zhang, H. M. (2009). On the morning commute problem in a corridor network with multiple bottlenecks: Its system-optimal traffic flow patterns and the realizing tolling scheme. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 43(3), 267-284.
- Su, Q., & Wang, D. Z. (2019). Morning commute problem with supply management considering parking and ride-sourcing. Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 105, 626-647.
- Tafreshian, A., Masoud, N., & Yin, Y. (2020). Frontiers in Service Science: Ride Matching for Peer-to-Peer Ride Sharing: A Review and Future Directions. Service Science, 12(2-3), 44-60.
- Train, K. E. (2009). Discrete choice methods with simulation. Cambridge university press.
- U. S. Department of Transportation. (2016) Principal Means of Transportation to Work. Retrieved from: https://www.bts.dot.gov/content/principal-means-transportation-work

Uber. (2018). 10 billion trips. Retrieved from: https://www.uber.com/newsroom/10-billion



- Vickrey, W. S. (1969). Congestion theory and transport investment. The American Economic Review, 59(2), 251-260.
- Wang, H., & Yang, H. (2019). Ridesourcing systems: A framework and review. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 129, 122-155.
- Wang, J. P., Ban, X. J., & Huang, H. J. (2019). Dynamic ridesharing with variable-ratio chargingcompensation scheme for morning commute. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 122, 390-415.
- Wang, X., Guo, L., Wang, J., Liu, W., & Zhang, X. (2020). A convex programming approach for ridesharing user equilibrium under fixed driver/rider demand. Available at https://papers. ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3593084
- Xiao, F., & Zhang, H. M. (2014). Pareto-improving and self-sustainable pricing for the morning commute with nonidentical commuters. *Transportation Science*, 48(2), 159-169.
- Xiao, L. L., Liu, T. L., & Huang, H. J. (2016). On the morning commute problem with carpooling behavior under parking space constraint. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 91, 383-407.
- Xu, H., Ordonez, F., & Dessouky, M. (2015a). A traffic assignment model for a ridesharing transportation market. Journal of Advanced Transportation, 49(7), 793-816.
- Xu, H., Pang, J. S., Ordonez, F., & Dessouky, M. (2015b). Complementarity models for traffic equilibrium with ridesharing. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 81, 161-182.
- Xu, X., Chen, A., & Yang, C. (2016). A review of sustainable network design for road networks. KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering, 20(3), 1084-1098.
- Xu, Z., Chen, Z., Yin, Y., & Ye, J. (2020). Equilibrium analysis of urban traffic networks with ridesourcing services. Available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id= 3422294
- Yan, C., Zhu, H., Korolko, N., & Woodard, D. (2019). Dynamic pricing and matching in ride-hailing platforms. Naval Research Logistics (NRL), 67(8), 705-724.



- Yang, H., & H. Bell, M. G. (1998). Models and algorithms for road network design: a review and some new developments. *Transport Reviews*, 18(3), 257-278.
- Zhang, K., & Nie, M. (2020). To pool or not to pool: Equilibrium, pricing and regulation. Pricing and Regulation. Available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id= 3497808
- Zhong, L., Zhang, K., Nie, Y. M., & Xu, J. (2020). Dynamic carpool in morning commute: Role of high-occupancy-vehicle (HOV) and high-occupancy-toll (HOT) lanes. Transportation Research Part B: Methodological, 135, 98-119.

